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The Franklin B. Hough House, built between 1860 and 1861, is a rectangular, two-and-
a-half story, brick building, resting on stone foundations, designed and moderately
ornamented in the style of an Italian villa.

The house is set back from Collins Street and is approached by a semi-circular driveway.
Its front facade is dominated by a projecting central bay which extends the full height
of the house and is capped with its own gable roof. This bay houses the front doorway,
which is reached by a short flight of stone steps. The entrance is framed by a heavy
hoodmould on consoles, and the double doors are enclosed by an elliptical fanlight and
flanking sidelights. The secgnd story window above the doorway is of the same double
hung sash dimensions as the other windows. It also possesses the same white segmental
hoodmoulds as the other windows, although its mould does have a finial. The sill of
this window is styled in an elaborate fashion as well, unlike the plain sills of the
other windows. On the third story of the bay there is a small circular window.

The central bay is flanked on either side by two windows at both the first and second
story level.

The Hough House has a hip roof, topped by a rectangular belvidere. The roof has a
dentillated cornice, and below that runs a dentillated brick breeze,

The interior of the house has been left basically unchanged since Hough's occupancy.
The rooms are characterized by high ceilings. A spiral staircase dominates the entrance
hall.

There is a small frame garage attached to the northwest corner of the house. Formerly,
on the south side of the house there was a large wooden bay. This was removed circa
1967 and was replaced by a glassed-in porch, built of brick and the same native stone
as that used in the foundations.

Other structures on the three-and-a-half-acre property include a sugar shanty and a
chicken coop, both of which date from the historic period.

Most of the property to the rear of the house has been reforested. The house was in
the hands of the Hough family until 1967 when it was sold to the current owner,
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Dr. Franklin B, Hough first realized the need for the formulation of a conservation
policy for America's timberlands in the decade following the Civil War. As the super-
visor of the New York State census in 1855 and 1865, he noted a sharp drop in the pro-
duction of forest products in certain areas, in the interval between the two censuses.
As a result, he sought to impress upon the public and the Federal Government the need
to curb the rapid destruction of the Nation's forests. His efforts to awaken the
country brought about his appointment as the country's first Federal forest official,
and in that capacity he laid the basis for the development of the present United States
Forest Service.

Dr. Hough's residence for over 20 years is located at 29 Collins Street, Lowville, New
York. The two-and-a-half story Italianate brick house is still used as a private
residence.

Biography

Throughout his life, Hough displayed a great variety of interests. Born on July 22,
1822, he entered Union College in 1840, was graduated in 1843, and then decided on a
medical career. Admitted to Western Reserve Medical College, he received his M.D.
degree in 1848, whereupon he established a practice in Somerville, New York. Greatly
intrigued by local history, he collected and edited historical materials pertaining
to the early history of the area. But Hough also displayed deep interest in geology
and botany. All such interests had to be put aside with the outbreak of the Civil
War, and until 1863 Hough served first as an inspector in the United States Sanitary
Commission and then as a surgeon in the 97th New York volunteers. Upon his return
from the war, Hough established residence on Collins Street in Lowville.

Some years after settling in Lowville, Hough became alarmed at the Nation's reckless
use of its forests. 0ddly enough, his concern about the accelerating devastation of
timber lands stemmed from his supervision of the New York State census in 1855 and
1865. 1In comparing the reports for the census, Hough observed that the production
of forest products had greatly fallen for certain areas in the State between 1855
and 1865. As a result, Hough realized that our forest resources were not limitless
and that action should be taken to protect the timber lands. But it was not until
1873, when he spoke before a meeting of the American Association for the Advancement
of Science, that he elicited an effective response from an audience. In his speech,
entitled "On the Duty of the Government in the Preservation of Forestry," Hough
pointed out that as forests extended from State to State, the problem of protecting
them concerned the Nation. Moreover, he declared that training in forestry was vital,
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and that forestry education should be developed in the United States. Greatly
impressed by the speech, the Association authorized the drawing up of a memorial
to be presented to Congress. Hough became its main author. Once sent to
Washington, the memorial failed to receive immediate action. During the
following two years, Hough continued to press the case for forest preservation
before the public, presenting in one instance several talks on forestry at the
Lowell Institute, Harvard University. Finally in 1876, Congress, by an
amendment to the appropriations bill for the Department of Agriculture acted
upon the dormant memorial.

Instead of creating a commission, as the memorial suggested, to study the nation's
forests, Congress simply authorized the Department of Agriculture to investigate
the forests and submit a report on timber lands and forestry practices.
Subsequently, Hough received from the Department the appointment as the first
federal forest official on August 30, 1876, at $2,000 a year. Hough quickly
organized a small unit, which later grew into the Division of Forestry and
subsequently became the Forest Service. In the following years, Hough studied
forestry problems and practices in the United States and Europe, producing three
bulky reports that hecame instrumental in the development of forest management
in the United States. This work later received international recognition, as
the International Geographical Congress, when it met in Venice, presented a
diploma of honor to Hough.

In addition to his work as a federal employee, Hough helped to promote the

cause of forestry by other means. He initiated the publication of the American
Journal of Forestry in September 1882; and although the journal survived only
until October 1883, it has been ''credited with laying the foundation on which

a native forestry literature has been built."l And in 1885 Hough wrote the bill
that created the vast Adirondack Forest Preserve in New York.

Hough died on June 11, 1885. Since that date, his work in behalf of forestry
has gained increasing importance and influence. With no hesitation, we may
rightfully call him the father of forestry in the United States.

1Henry Clepper (ed.), American Forestry: Six Decades of Growth (Washington, 1960),
p.5l.
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George Armstrong, ed., Forestry College: Essays on the Growth and Development of
New York State's College of Forestry, 1911-1961 (Syracuse, New York,
1961).

Henry Clepper, ed., American Forestry, Six Decades of Growth (Washington, D.C.,
1961).

Henry S. Graves, "Franklin B. Hough," Dictionary of American Biography (New
York, 1943).

Romeyn Hough, '"The Incipiency of the Forestry Movement in America," American
Forestry vol. XIX (August 1913), pp. 547-550.
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The Franklin Hough national historic landmark boundaries are coterminus with
the present Hough House lot boundaries. This lot consists of two contiguous
parcels which form a rough L shape. The base of the L, which is the northerly
parcel is trapezoidal, while the other parcel is rectangular. These two parcels
comprised the Hough House property as it was conveyed by the Hough family to

the present owner and can be seen on the accompanying map entitled ''Street Map
of the Village of Lowville,'" drawn by R. E. Bush, dated 1956 and reduced in
scale to 1" = 1600'.
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